1978

John P. Condas et al v. George J. Condas et al : Brief of Defendants-Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Action to establish a public roadway and/or a prescriptive easement for a roadway across defendants-appellants lands in White Pine Canyon in Summit County, Utah, and for injunctive relief to order removal of gates across the roadway and to enjoin defendants-appellants from obstructing or interfering with vehicle or foot travel along the roadway to or from plaintiffs-respondents lands.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The trial court held that plaintiffs-respondents failed to establish a prescriptive easement across defendants-appellants lands, but a public roadway had been established. Accordingly, it entered its Decree

(1) adjudging that the existing roadway up White Pine Canyon is a public road as it passes through and beyond the lands of defendants-appellants;

(2) ordering defendants-appellants to remove the gates which they erected across said roadway; and

(3) enjoining defendants-appellants from interfering with or in any manner obstructing the use of the roadway by plaintiffs-respondents and by the public generally through the lands of defendants-appellants.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants-appellants seek to reverse the whole of the Decree and to remand the case to the lower court with instructions to enter an Amended Decree dismissing plaintiffs' Complaint and adjudging that the roadway across defendants-appellants lands in White Pine Canyon is their private roadway and plaintiffs-respondents own no interest or right therein, or that failing, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

To simplify matters, defendants-appellants collectively will be referred to hereinafter as defendants and plaintiffs-respondents collectively will be referred to hereinafter as plaintiffs and individual defendants or plaintiffs will be designated by name.

Defendants are the owners of approximately 2,600 acres of land and plaintiffs are the owners of approximately 640 acres of land, both in the area of White Pine Canyon. (Edgs. 1, 2, R.211, Exhs. 1-P, 14-P). The north line of defendants' lands

begins near the mouth of White Pine Canyon and extends up White Pine Canyon and over into the area of Iron Mountain (Exhs. 1-P, 14-D). Plaintiffs' lands are situate up-canyon and for the most part are bounded on the North and South by defendants' lands (Exhs. 1-P, 14-D).

Defendants are the children and successors of John G. Condas who acquired the lands in part patented by Delbert Redden, in part under his own homestead patents and in part patented by his brother, Gust Condas (Exhs. 33-D, 34-D, 35-D, 11-D). Plaintiffs are the children and successors of Peter G. Condas who acquired his lands under his own homestead patent (Exh. 12-D). John G. Condas and Peter G. Condas were brothers, making defendants and plaintiffs first cousins.

The first homestead entry was made by Delbert Redden in 1912 covering the northernmost lands of defendants in the mouth of White Pine Canyon on which the buildings and improvements were located (Ex. 33-D). Delbert H. Redden filed an additional homestead entry in 1922 covering the adjoining land up White Pine Canyon and to the East (Exh. 34-D). John G. Condas filed homestead entries in 1912 and 1916 covering lands adjoining the Redden property (Exh. 35-D). Gust Condas filed an adjoining homestead entry in 1924 covering lands up-canyon and to the South and East (Exh. 11-D). Patents to the above lands were thereafter issued. John G. Condas acquired the Redden property in 1925, and thereafter received his own patents and acquired the lands of Gust Condas, making up the lands now owned by defendants. In

1926, Peter G. Condas filed his homestead entry and in 1929 acquired a patent to the lands now owned by plaintiffs (Exh. 12-D).

Defendants' predecessor John G. Condas was the defendant in an action entitled Patrick Sullivan, et ux, plaintiffs v. John G. Condas, defendant, being Salt Lake County Civil No. 42140, concerning the White Pine Canyon Road as it crossed the Sullivan property immediately to the North of the lands then owned by John G. Condas. Plaintiffs' predecessor, Peter G. Condas, was not a party to the foregoing action. A final Decree was entered therein on December 4, 1928 (Exh. 36-D) which adjudicated that a public highway existed from the Park City Highway along Trotteman's Lane and over and across Sullivan's property to the gate (on the North line of the then John G. Condas property). An appeal was taken by plaintiffs Sullivan to the Utah Supreme Court and its opinion is reported in 76 Utah 585, 290 Pac. 954 (1930) wherein the decree of the trial court was affirmed.

One of the pivotal issues in this case was whether any portion of the Abstract of the Record (Exh. 2-P) or the Briefs (Exhs. 3-P, 4-P) filed in Sullivan v. Condas, supra (Supreme Court Case No. 4922) was admissible in evidence in this case. Plaintiffs offered in evidence the foregoing Abstract of Record (R. 405) to which defendants objected (R.405-409) and the Court initially would not receive it (R.408-410). Thereafter, plaintiffs attempted to offer portions of the foregoing Abstract of Record

piecemeal by reading excerpts thereof into the record comprising paragraph 14 of the Answer and Counterclaim of defendant therein, John Condas (R.411,412) to which defendants objected (R.412,413) and moved to strike (R.416) which Motion was taken under advisement by the trial court (R.416).

Thereafter, plaintiffs were permitted to read into the record from Exhibit 3-P (Respondents' Brief) over defendants' objection and subject to their Motion to Strike (R.422), portions of the abstracted testimony of several witnesses and/or summaries thereof, including the summarized testimony of John G. Condas, as summarized by his lawyer (R.423-435, incl.). Defendants then moved to strike all of the foregoing testimony and summaries (R.435) which the trial court took under advisement (R.436).

At the conclusion of plaintiffs' evidence, plaintiffs reoffered into evidence designated parts of the Abstract of the Record in the Sullivan case, included in Exhibit 2-P; to-wit, the Answer and Counterclaim of John G. Condas, the Decree, all of the testimony offered by Mr. John Condas, including the findings of the District Court of which a part of Finding No. 8 was read into the record (R.619-622, incl.). Defendants renewed their Objection and Motion to Strike (R.624). The trial court overruled defendants' Objection and received the evidence subject to defendants' Motion to Strike (R.624).

Defendants were to be afforded the opportunity to proffer other portions of the Abstract of Record in the Sullivan v. Condas case after the lower court ruled on defendants' Motion to Strike

(R.622,623,624). At the conclusion of defendants' evidence, it was again made clear that in the event the trial court ruled the above proffer admissible, defendants would be afforded the opportunity to present any additional documentation out of the Sullivan v. Condas case which they determine necessary (R.965).

Some three and one-half months after final arguments, the lower court ruled that the abstracts of testimony in the Sullivan v. Condas case and the pleadings of John Condas, and the Findings and Decree were admissible in this case and on that basis decided this case on its merits (R.190,191) without affording defendants an opportunity to proffer rebuttal portions of the above abstracts as defendants had been repeatedly assured they would be permitted to do (Tr. 622, 623, 624, 965).

Defendants are mindful of the time-honored rules of appellant review which require stating the facts in the light most favorable to the Findings of Fact and Decree below. However in view of the difficulties above enumerated and defendants' firm position as to the inadmissibility of such evidence, defendants' further Statement of Facts herein is developed to the exclusion of such evidence.

In 1903, only a trail about four or five feet wide existed up White Pine Canyon to the flats (Supplemental Record - James Archibald Deposition, p. 8) which remained the same in 1905 or 1906 (ibid p. 10) and 1907 (ibid p. 11). The Trottman Lane used to connect with the road to Red Pine Canyon as it came out of McDonald's Basin (ibid p. 15). From 1903 to 1917 a very poor trail existed up the bottom of White Pine Canyon, but no road

for a wagon (Supplemental Record - Earl Johnson Deposition, pp. 7, 8, 9, 10). The Trotman Lane was passable by a wagon to the Del Redden cabin but not beyond (ibid p. 11).

From 1915 to 1920 only a horse trail existed which was steep and rough with a lot of rocks (R.438,442,443,445). In 1908 or 1910 and in 1915 there wasn't any trail to amount to anything (R.471,475). In 1922 there was no road up White Pine Canyon (R.644).

From 1920 to 1950 only a single trail existed up White Pine Canyon beyond the first stream crossing above the John Condas buildings (R.652,655,659,666,667,672,675,676,680,681,689,691, 729,734,735,736,737,749,750,760,762,763,771,775,784,790,791,855, 856,885,904,905,912,915,916,925,931,943). The only exceptions were described as a trail where you could drive a car through (R.533), or sometime between 1925 and 1929, prints of two tracks showing that four-wheeled vehicles had been on the road (R.498) or in 1942 a road or trail not manmade with tracks (R.969), or an unimproved road or jeep trail in 1940 based on opinion (R.1036).

From 1903 until 1925 no one but the Condas and an occasional horseback rider was seen traveling in White Pine Canyon (Supplemental Record - James Archibald Deposition, pp. 12,22; Supplemental Record - Earl Johnson Deposition, pp. 9,10; (R.441, 475,675).

During the years 1925 to 1928, John G. Condas, predecessor in interest of defendants, constructed a series of fences and gates within the northerly portion of his property dividing the

same into several pastures and corral areas which included a wooden gate across the roadway entering his property on the North line thereof and a series of division fences and wire gates along the roadway through his pasture and corral areas and a wooden gate of only sufficient width to permit passage of a person riding horseback across the roadway near the southern end of his pasture area (Fdg.9, R.213; Exh.15-D).

The wooden gate and its replacements constructed across the roadway on the North line of the John G. Condas property was usually maintained in a closed and locked condition, whenever John G. Condas and his successors were away from the property, generally since the construction thereof until the present time, and was generally maintained in a closed but unlocked condition when they were present on the property and said gates were generally posted with "keep out" or "no trespassing" signs since the construction thereof until the present time (Fdg.10, R.213).

During the period from 1926 to 1932, inclusive, entry upon and use of the roadway up White Pine Canyon across defendants' property by plaintiffs' predecessor in interest was with the permission and consent of defendants' predecessor in interest who provided a key to the locked gate to plaintiffs' predecessor in interest (Fdg.11, R.213).

During the period from 1933 to 1970, inclusive, plaintiffs and/or their predecessors in interest, leased their lands to defendants' predecessor in interest and/or defendants or the

lands of both parties were jointly leased to third persons and all during said period the entry upon and use of the roadway up White Pine Canyon across defendants' property by plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest was with the consent and permission of defendants and/or their predecessor in interest (Fdg.12, R.213, 214).

During the period from 1926 to 1970, inclusive, the use of the roadway by plaintiff and their predecessors in interest was under a claim of right and not in recognition of defendants' claimed right to grant or deny permission to use same (Fdg.13, R.214).

In 1972, defendants petitioned the Board of County Commissioners of Summit County to vacate a portion of the roadway across the northerly portion of their lands if such public road existed (Fdg.17, R.214), and that portion of the roadway was vacated by Ordinance 63 dated September 6, 1972 (Exh. 39-D) as amended on February 7, 1973 (Exh. 38-D). The Board of Commissioners did not give notice of the vacation to the plaintiffs nor did they (it) publish notice of the vacation prior to enacting the vacating ordinance (Fdg.18, R.214). Notice of the enactment of Ordinance 63 was published in the Park Record on September 14, 1972 (Exh. 40-D).

ARGUMENT

Introduction

We are mindful that under traditional rules of appellant review the Findings of the trial court are indulged with a

presumption of correctness and the burden is upon the attackee to demonstrate that they are in error and should be overturned. Hardy v. Hendrickson, 27 Utah 2d 251, 495 P.2d 28 (1972); First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., v. Wright, (Utah) 521 P.2d 563 (1974). Here the Findings of the trial court are not only unsupported by competent evidence, but are against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. To establish a public thoroughfare, plaintiffs have the burden of proving public user for 10 years by clear and convincing evidence. Petersen v. Combe, 20 Utah 2d 376, 438 P.2d 545 (1968); Thomson v. Condas, 27 Utah 2d 129, 493 P.2d 639 (1972). And for a matter to be clear and convincing it must at least have reached the point where there remains no serious or substantial doubt as to the correctness of the conclusion. Greener v. Greener, 116 Utah 571, 212 P.2d 194 (1949); Jardine v. Archibald, 3 Utah 2d 88, 279 P.2d 454 (1955).

We are also mindful that different rules of appellant review apply depending upon whether the case is one of law rather than equity. The instant action seeks injunctive relief against interference with an alleged easement and the trial court invoked collateral estoppel, an equitable remedy, in granting the injunctive relief. And where doubt exists as to whether a cause should be one in equity or one in law, the trial court should have some latitude of discretion. Sweeney v. Happy Valley, Inc., 18 Utah 2d 113, 417 P.2d 126 (1966). This being an equity case, and having been so treated by the trial court,

this Court will review the evidence and will reverse if it concludes that the evidence clearly preponderates against the Decision. Constitution of Utah, Art. VIII, Sec. 9; Rule 72(a), U.R.C.P.; Stanley v. Stanley, 97 Utah 520, 94 P.2d 465 (1939); Foster v. Blake Heights Corp., (Utah) 530 P.2d 815 (1974); Provo City v. Lambert, (Utah) 574 P.2d 727 (1978).

The key issue on this appeal is whether the Abstract of Record in Sullivan v. Condas (Supreme Court Case No. 4492), and Appellants' Brief and Respondents' Brief filed therein are admissible as evidence in this case. Inherent in that issue are

(1) whether the pleadings and abstracted testimony of defendants' predecessor, John G. Condas, are declarations against interest which can be invoked against defendants in this case, and

(2) whether the Findings in this case can rest on abstracted testimony of witnesses who testified in the Sullivan case, and

(3) whether the Doctrine of Collateral Estoppel applies or can be invoked against defendants in this case.

Absent the Abstract of Record in Sullivan v. Condas, there is no substantial evidence to support the findings of the trial court that a public road had been established in White Pine Canyon. In fact the overwhelming weight of the evidence in this case establishes that from at least 1903 until 1950 only a trail existed up White Pine Canyon beyond the first stream

crossing just above defendants' buildings. Likewise the evidence overwhelmingly establishes that during the whole of such period the only means of travel up White Pine Canyon was by foot or by horseback and it was not until 1950 and 1951 when a bulldozer cut a makeshift roadway up White Pine Canyon which made it passable for even 4-wheel drive vehicles.

The sum and substance of it all is that the trial court disregarded the evidence in this case and found against defendants because it regarded the position taken by defendants in this case as being opposite to the position taken by their predecessor in Sullivan v. Condas. In so doing the trial court erroneously admitted into evidence the Abstract of the Record in Sullivan v. Condas and the briefs filed therein, misconstrued the Findings of Fact therein and misapplied the Doctrine of Collateral Estoppel herein. The trial court then decided the case against the defendants without affording them the reassured opportunity to proffer rebuttal portions of the abstract. The end result of it all is that the trial court opened defendants' lands to the public by subjecting the same to a public roadway which never existed across their lands in fact or in law and in so doing committed reversible error.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE ABSTRACT OF RECORD IN SULLIVAN V. CONDAS (SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 4922) AND THE BRIEFS FILED THEREIN AS EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE.

Defendants' predecessor John G. Condas was defendant in Sullivan v. Condas (Salt Lake County Civil No. 42140) and neither plaintiffs nor their predecessor in interest was a party therein. Sullivans owned the land immediately North and adjoining the land of John G. Condas. A roadway known as Trotman Lane extended from the main highway across the lands of Sullivans and onto the land of John G. Condas. There Sullivans sued Condas for trespass and by way of Answer and Counterclaim Condas asserted a public roadway over the Sullivans' land claiming that a public roadway existed from the main highway all the way up White Pine Canyon. The trial court held that a public roadway existed across Sullivans' land up to the gate on the North line of defendant Condas' land. The trial court did not hold that a public roadway existed up White Pine Canyon across defendant Condas' lands.

(1) Neither the Pleadings, Testimony or Brief of Respondent John G. Condas in Sullivan v. Condas Constitutes Vicarious Admissions Against Defendants in this Action.

Vicarious admissions are controlled by Rule 63(9), Utah Rules of Evidence (U.R.E.), and are limited to agency, employment, conspirator or third-person contractual liability relationships, none of which are present in this case. The foregoing rule was taken from Rule 63(9), Uniform Rules of Evidence, approved by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws in 1953 which notes that this exception adopts the policy of Model Code (American Law Institute), Rule 508.

Declarations of predecessors in interest, while usually treated as vicarious admissions, are excluded from Model Code Rule 508 (Rule 63(9), U.R.E.) but may be included in the Model Code Rule 509 (Rule 63(10), U.R.E.). American Law Institute, Model Code of Evidence, Rule 509, p. 251. The Model Code omits any provision for admitting declarations of predecessors in interest except under the Code's liberal rules admitting declarations against interest. McCormick on Evidence, Section 245, p. 523.

Wigmore acknowledges that the Morgan Theory of Vicarious Admissions (adopted by the Model Code and Uniform Rules of Evidence), has sought to overthrow the whole theory of vicarious admissions as set forth in Wigmore's Treatise. Wigmore on Evidence, Section 1080(a), p. 195. The rationale for the Morgan theory is that the reception of so-called admissions made by persons related to the now opponent only by a "privity of interest", is a transfer into evidence law of numerous tests of substantive law which have nothing to do with evidential values and that in result, the rules of evidence admit copiously, as "vicarious admissions", many sorts of extra judicial statements of third persons which have all the testimonial weaknesses struck at by the hearsay rule, and which thus form an anomalous and undesirable sort of evidence. Wigmore on Evidence, supra.

In ruling on defendants' Objection and Motion to Strike, the trial court held that the allegations or assertions of fact contained in the pleadings (Answer and Counterclaim of

John G. Condas) as they pertain to White Pine Canyon, are admissible as "admissions" against interest (as to this proceeding), made by an authorized agent of defendants' predecessor in title, John Condas (R.190). The problem with that is the trial court overlooked the distinction between a declaration and an admission. A "declaration" is the assertion or a statement of fact and an "admission" is a voluntary acknowledgement made by a party of the existence or truth of certain facts. 29 Am. Jur. 2d, Evidence, §597, p. 651. Thus, an admission is a position taken by an adversary, either personally or through an authorized agent, which is contrary to and inconsistent with the contention now being made by him in the litigation. Ibid. p. 652.

The pleadings of John G. Condas made by his attorney in Sullivan v. Condas might well be admissions which could be used against him in subsequent litigation under Rule 63(9), U.R.E., since he authorized the same. However, such would not be admissible as against these defendants in this case under Rule 63(9), U.R.E., since declarations of predecessors in interest are excluded from that rule under the authorities cited above.

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