1978

# John P. Condas et al v. George J. Condas et al : Brief of Plaintiffs-Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### I

#### THE FORMER TESTIMONY OF WITNESSES IN THE SULLIVAN CASE IS ADMISSIBLE IN THIS CASE

The trial court received in evidence the former testimony of persons who were witnesses for John Condas in Sullivan v. Condas and had testified in that case on the public's use of the roadway in White Pine Canyon.

The rule of evidence involved is Rule 63(3), Utah Rules of Evidence, which admits former testimony as an exception to the hearsay rule, on certain conditions. The rule reads in pertinent part as follows:

(3) Depositions and Prior Testimony. Subject to the same limitations and objections as though the

declarant were testifying in person\* \* \*: (b) if the judge finds that the declarant is unavailable as a witness at the hearing, testimony given as a witness in another action \* \* \*, when (i) the testimony is offered against a party who offered it in his own behalf on the former occasion, or against the successor in interest of such party, \* \* \*.

In this case the former testimony was offered on counsel's representation to the court that the former witnesses were no longer living. (R. 417.) Appellants did not object to the representation that the former witnesses were unavailable. The former testimony was offered against the appellants as the successors in interest as grantees, of the party, John Condas, who offered the testimony in his own behalf on the former occasion. The requirements of the rule were complied with in every detail.

The rule does not require "reprocity" or "mutuality" in the sense that the party who offers the former testimony must also have been a party in the prior proceeding. It is only necessary that the testimony be offered against a party who offered it before or his successors in interest. Placing substance over form, the Utah rule recognizes "that it is only the party against whom the former testimony is now offered, whose presence as a party in the previous suit is significant." McCormick On Evidence, 2d ed., § 256 at p. 618.

Although subpart (b)(i) of the rule does not require the identity of issues for which appellants argue (Br. 19), certainly the issue in both cases are not only substantially but precisely the same, namely the existence of a public road in White Pine Canyon.

Because the reporter's transcript of the testimony in the Sullivan case has been lost (R. 419), only the abstract of the record on appeal (Ex. 2-P) and the brief of John Condas (Ex. 3-P) which are on file in this Court were available to respondents to prove the former testimony. Both the abstract and the brief contain references to the pages of the lost transcript from which they were prepared.

The circumstances under which the abstract and the brief were prepared argue forcefully for their accuracy in reporting the former testimony. Both documents were prepared in an appeal in this Court where any misstatements by either lawyer would have been challenged. The documents were prepared with the lost transcript in hand and they were prepared by the persons who asked the former questions and heard the former answers given. Finally, when the verbatim quotations of the testimony in the brief of John Condas are compared with the abstract prepared by Patrick Sullivan's lawyer, it can be seen that the two documents agree in every material respect.

For the foregoing reasons it is submitted that the former testimony was properly received in evidence.

## II

THE STATEMENT OF JOHN CONDAS, IN  
HIS PLEADINGS IN THE SULLIVAN CASE,  
THAT THE ROADWAY ACROSS HIS PROPERTY  
IS A PUBLIC ROAD IS ADMISSIBLE AS A

DECLARATION AGAINST INTEREST AND AS  
A JUDICIAL ADMISSION

The trial court received in evidence the statement in the answer and counterclaim of John Condas in the Sullivan case (Ex. 2-P), that the roadway across his property is a public road.

The statement when made was clearly a declaration against the proprietary interest of John Condas for it acknowledged that his property was burdened with a public road. The statement also has the standing of a judicial admission.

Rule 63(10) of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides for the admission of declarations against interest as follows

(10) Declarations Against Interest. Subject to the limitations of exception (6), a statement which the judge finds was made by a declarant who is unavailable as a witness and which was at the time of the assertion so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest \* \* \* that the declarant under the circumstances would not have made the statement unless he believed it to be true;

Appellants appear to concede that the declaration of a third person may be used against a party whenever privity of estate exists, as this Court stated in Lyman Grazing Association v. Smith, 24 U 2d 443, 473 P. 2d 905 (1970), and that such a statement by John Condas himself would be admissible in this case because of the privity of estate that exists between him and the appellants, his grantees. (Br. 15-16.)

Appellants apparently object to the admission of the statement, as a declaration against interest, only because the statement

was made in pleadings prepared not by John Condas but by his lawyer. The objection is not well founded. "[P]leadings shown to have been prepared or filed by counsel employed by a party, are prima facie regarded as authorized by him and entitled to be received as his admission." McCormick, Hand Book of the Law of Evidence, 1954, § 242, at p. 513. Wigmore notes that a party in litigation "speaks always through his pleadings", as well as through the testimony of his witnesses, and states that "the basis upon which may be predicated a discrediting inconsistency on his part includes the whole range of facts asserted in his pleadings and in the testimony relied upon by him." Wigmore On Evidence, 1904 ed., § 1048, at p. 1217. "That the statements of the pleading are not those of the party himself must be immaterial since they are those of his authorized attorney. \* \* \* That the pleadings in prior causes, then, can be treated as the parties' admissions, usable as evidence in later causes, must be conceded. \* \* \*" Wigmore, supra, § 1066, at pp. 1245, 1246.

Appellants have not challenged the accuracy of the statements in the pleadings concerning the public road, nor do they even suggest that the statement in question was anything less than an authorized statement of John Condas' position as to the existence of a public road across his property.

Appellants take issue (Br. 14-15) with the trial court's language in referring to the statements in John Condas' pleadings as "admissions against interest" (R. 190). It is clear from the trial court's decision what the court meant to say. The trial court should not be made "an offender for a word." The appellants discussion (Br. 13-15) of vicarious admissions is beside the point. What is important here is that John Condas made a statement, through his lawyer in the Sullivan case, which was a declaration against his interest at the time it was made. Such a statement may properly be used against his grantees, the appellants, in this case.

The statement of John Condas in his pleadings that the roadway over his property is a public road is also admissible as a judicial admission under Rule 63(7) Utah Rules of Evidence, which provides as follows:

(7) Admissions by parties. As against himself a statement by a person who is a party to the action in his individual \* \* \* capacity \* \* \*.

"Judicial admissions are not evidence at all, but are formal admissions in the pleadings in the case \* \* \* by a party or his counsel which have the effect of withdrawing a fact from issue and dispensing wholly with the need for proof of the fact. McCormick On Evidence, 2d ed., 1972, § 262, at p. 630. Such admissions are in the same category as a response to a request to admit under the rules of civil procedure. Ibid, footnote 11. The same authority notes, at page 636 of the cited text, "the

sensible view that pleadings shown to have been prepared or filed by counsel employed by the party, are prima facie regarded as authorized by him and are entitled to be received as his admissions. \* \* \*

To the same effect are "the statements of a grantor of realty, made while title was \* \* \* still in him"; such statements "are receiveable as admissions against any grantee claiming under him. \* \* \* It is sufficient to note that the principle is today fully and universally conceded. \* \* \*" Wigmore on Evidence, 1972, vol. IV, § 1082, at p. 210. An admission of course, is sufficient to support a finding of fact. Peterson v. Richards, 73 U. 59, 272 Pac. 229 (1928) The note to Rule 63(7) contemplates "the admissibility of admissions \* \* \* by those by whose statements" a party "is bound."

### III

APPELLANTS ARE ESTOPPED  
FROM CHALLENGING THE  
PUBLIC CHARACTER OF THE  
ROADWAY IN WHITE PINE CANYON

There are several grounds for estoppel against the appellants in this case. Each will be presented separately.

A. Appellants are judicially estopped by the position taken by John Condas in the Sullivan case:--In his counterclaim in the Sullivan case John Condas took the position that a "public highway" runs "through and beyond the said lands of the defendant".

his own property, and "has been used continuously by the \* \* \* public generally \* \* \* for more than sixty years". (Ex. 2-P, at p. 17.)

If John Condas were alive today and the defendant in this lawsuit, he would be prevented by the doctrine of judicial estoppel from taking a position different from the one he took in the Sullivan case. John Condas received a benefit in the first trial and would be estopped from changing his position to receive another benefit now--from playing "fast-and-loose with the court". Mecham v. City of Glendale, 489 P. 2d 65, 67 (Ariz. 1971).

It was the rule of many courts for quite some time that a judicial estoppel could not operate where the partners were not the same in both cases. This position was based upon the view that mutuality of parties was essential to the operation of any estoppel. See this Court's opinion in Tracy Loan and Trust Co. v. Openshaw Inv. Company, 102 U. 509, 132 P. 2d 388 (1942).

The requirement of mutuality has since fallen in disfavor. For example, in the application of the related doctrine of "collateral estoppel", this Court has said that it is not necessary that the parties be the same in both cases. Richards v. Hodson, 26 U. 2d 113, 485 P. 2d 1044, 1046 (1971). And in California, the requirement of mutuality of estoppel, as a limit to the scope of collateral estoppel, has been rejected. Teitelbaum Furs, Inc. v. Dominion Insurance Company, 375 P. 2d 439 (Cal.

1962); cert den. 372 U.S. 966. In Mecham v. City of Glendale, supra, the Supreme Court of Arizona applied the doctrine of judicial estoppel where mutuality of parties did not exist.

Although appellants mention Mecham v. City of Glendale, supra, in their brief (p. 24), they do not appear to take issue with the Arizona court's holding that judicial estoppel does not require a mutuality of parties. Appellants offer no reason why they should not be held to the position taken by their grantor as to the public road across his property.

B. Appellants are collaterally estopped from relitigating the issue of a public road in White Pine Canyon:--A branch of the doctrine of res judicata is the principle of collateral estoppel which prevents the relitigating of material facts or issues which are essential to and were established or determined in a former action, Richards v. Hodson, 26 U.2d 113, 485 P.2d 1044, 1046 (1971); Knight v. Flat Top Mining Co., 6 U.2d 51, 305 P.2d 503, 506 (1957). It is not necessary that all parties be the same in the two actions. Richards, supra, at p. 1046.

The facts found and issues determined in the Sullivan case which are pertinent here are those which have to do with the public use of the road over the defendants' lands. The findings of fact of the trial court in the Sullivan case which are pertinent here are No. 8 and 9 (Ex. 2-P, at pp. 41-43) which in summary, states that the use made of the road by the public was "openly, notoriously, continuously, uninterruptedly, adversely

and under claim of right for more than fifty years" (Fdg. No. 9) "up White Pine Canyon" for "the general purposes of traffic \* \* \* for all purposes for which public highways, under similar conditions are generally used" (Fdg. No. 8).

It begs the point to say that the findings in the Sullivan case refer primarily to the Sullivan property. Of course they do, since this is where the trespass was charged and the public's use of the Condas property had been admitted. But to avoid the charge of trespass, John Condas had to prove the public character of the road over the Sullivan property and to do that he had to prove that the public used the road over the Sullivan property and on up the canyon "through and beyond" his own lands as well. (See paragraph 14 of his answer (Ex. 2-P at pp. 17-18)). If John Condas had been the only person to use the road the use would have been "private" rather than "public". Without the public's use further up the canyon, there would have been no occasion for the public to use the road over the Sullivan property. The findings of fact as to the public's use of the road were material to the outcome of that lawsuit and, therefore, establish the public character of that use in this lawsuit.

That the findings of fact were for rather than against John Condas is a distinction without a difference--it does not relieve his successors from the effect of the finding. The facts were material facts in a lawsuit in which their successor was a party.

IV

THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES  
THE EXISTENCE OF A PUBLIC  
ROAD ON APPELLANTS'  
PROPERTY WHILE IT WAS  
PART OF THE PUBLIC DOMAIN

The evidence in this case on the public's use of the roadway in White Pine Canyon in the early days is of necessity one sided since appellants chose to confine their evidence to the physical condition of the roadway and its use after the turn of the century. Respondents' evidence consists of the testimony of persons who used the roadway before and after the turn of the century.

The persons who testified as to the earliest public use of the roadway were the witnesses of John Condas in the Sullivan case. Portions of the abstracted former testimony of these persons are reproduced in the Appendix A to this brief. The testimony in the Sullivan case was reviewed by this Court, on Mr. Sullivan's appeal, in the following language (76 U. 290 Pac. at 957):

\* \* \* There is ample and satisfactory evidence to show that as early as 1873 the roadway extended up and down the canyon over the lands now owned by the plaintiffs [Sullivan] and the defendant [John Condas] and others, while such lands were a part of the public domain, and was traveled and used by the public generally as occasion required in going up and down the canyon. \* \* \*

Before leaving this discussion of the former testimony from the Sullivan case, it should be stated that at no time during the trial did appellants proffer any evidence from the Sullivan case. The trial of this case commenced on March 21, 1977, and concluded ten days later on March 21, 1977. Thereafter counsel for both parties appeared before the trial court in oral argument on April 13, 1977 and again on October 28, 1977, after the trial court's decision, in argument on the findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree. Counsel for appellants never asked the trial court at any time to consider anything from the Sullivan case which was not already before it.

Respondents offered additional evidence on the public road from other persons, still living, who were in the canyon in their early years. James Archibald, in his deposition, told of his travel in the canyon in 1898 with his father and a logging crew who brought logs out of the canyon with teams of horses as often as three times a day every day when it wasn't storming. Mr. Archibald also told of his travel in the canyon in 1903 and from 1905 to 1907. (R. 479; deposition, pp. 5-6, 8, 10.) Douglas Archibald, Earl Johnson, Gilbert Kimball and Spencer Young testified of their travel in the canyon in the years between 1905 to 1924. (R. 475; Earl Johnson deposition, pp. 3, 7-8; 437, 443-447; 454, 457, 459, 461, 463, 467, 470.)

Testimony of the public's use of the roadway while John Condas was alive was given by Fred Browning who worked

for John Condas off and on from 1925 to 1930 and lived on the property for six months in 1926. Mr. Browning testified in his deposition that he observed people going up and down the road on horses and in wagons, pickup trucks and cars. He also testified that John Condas had said to him that people could not be stopped from using the road because it had been a public road for too many years. (R. 483, 486, 489-495.)

In the opinion of the trial court, respondents "produced additional credible evidence during the trial to corroborate the evidence contained in the transcripts of Sullivan, and further substantiate the findings of the trial judge in Sullivan." (R. 189,191.)

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